

genHOME Repository

Evidence base for housing modifications and inclusive design 2011 – 2017





Contents

genHOME project summary report	3
genHOME citation categories	5
Benefits on wellbeing of accessible and inclusive housing solutions	5
Prevention of ill health through housing interventions	9
Evidence of the causal pathways that explain how interventions achie beneficial or harmful effects	ve 13
Understanding Person—Environment fit	13
Ageing in place	15
Meaning of home	17
Understanding impact of intervention on participation and satisfaction	20
Understanding the adaption/modification process	23
Environmental gerontology	26
Harmful impacts of unsuitable housing	28
Social and economic benefits of well-considered housing solutions	30
Ways in which housing processes impact on wellbeing	33
Outcome measures	36
Occupational therapy-specific evidence/guidance	39
Other	43

genHOME project summary report

The purpose of this summary report is to outline the work of the genHOME project, which has been supported by the membership of the Royal College of Occupational Therapists Specialist Section for Housing (RCOTSS – Housing). The summary provides a commentary on the background to the project, key outcomes the project has achieved over the past 7 years, where the project is now, and the future going forward.

Background

The catalyst for the genHOME project began with an article written by Darren Awang and Frances Heywood and published, in 2011, in the British Journal of Occupational Therapy. The article describes the three challenges impacting on the development of an effective evidence base to inform practice in housing adaptations and inclusive design. First, the existing research is fragmented and, consequently, frustrates efforts to build a robust body of evidence. Secondly, there are large gaps in the knowledge base about housing adaptations. Thirdly, there is a lack of a consistent and coherent approach to measuring outcomes.

The article concluded by recommending the formation of a project founded on the principles and spirit of the original genome DNA mapping project, and which would begin the process of addressing the challenges identified by Awang and Heywood. Thus, with the generous financial support from the members of the RCOTSS – Housing, Pressalit, and UKTROF, and with the formation of the genHOME steering group, formal work on the project began.

7 Years of the genHOME project

Since 2011, the genHOME project has achieved a number of milestones towards overcoming the challenges of developing an effective evidence base for housing adaptations practice. Throughout this period, the members of the RCOTSS – Housing have been a constant source of support and encouragement. The key achievements are listed below:

2013: A scoping review of the evidence base was completed, which identified key gaps in the literature. The findings of the scoping review were presented to the RCOTSS – Housing Conference in 2013.

2014–2017: Development and maintenance of a repository of evidence related to housing adaptations and inclusive design. Articles added to the repository were published monthly on the genHOME news section on the Royal College of Occupational Therapists website and in the RCOTSS – Housing e-newsletter. The repository now contains over 450 articles.

2015–2017: With the support of the RCOT website development team, a genHOME area was created and maintained on the RCOT website.

2016: The first international symposium on housing adaptations, bringing together 33 national and international academics and individuals from organisations involved or interested in housing adaptations and housing design research. The symposium had the simple aim of planning a way forward to promote and raise the quality and impact of international research in housing adaptations and housing design.

2017: Report written for the RCOTSS – Housing National Executive Committee on outcome measurement tools used in housing adaptations research.

2017: Under the umbrella of the genHOME project, 6 international researchers came together at the International Association of Gerontology and Geriatrics Conference. The researchers gave a presentation on the cross—cultural comparison of housing adaptations research and the need for a genHOME project.

During this 7-year period, the genHOME Lead has also responded to individual requests from members of the RCOTSS – Housing who have requested specific information and evidence to support them in their practice. The genHOME Lead also presented at the 2015 and 2016 RCOTSS – Housing conferences, giving members an update on genHOME activities and achievements.

Where we are now and the future going forward

With changes in policy, the mounting development costs of creating a searchable database of evidence, and the aspirations of the genHOME steering group for creating an online virtual community of international researchers and multidisciplinary practitioners, the RCOTSS – Housing National Executive Committee reflected on the direction of travel for the genHOME project. In October 2017 it was agreed that the project would be gifted to the steering group, allowing them to take forward their aspirations for the project. Work is now underway to find a new host for the genHOME project and a downloadable document based on the repository will be made available for members of the RCOTSS – Housing to download.

As the steering group looks to the future and for a new host for the project, this summary report provides an opportunity to give thanks and recognition to the members of RCOTSS – Housing who have supported the project over the last 7 years, and without whose help and encouragement the many achievements of the genHOME project would not have been possible.

Report written on behalf of the genHOME Steering Group – January 2018

Note by the Chair RCOTSS – Housing 2018: It is with grateful thanks to the steering group that we have such a rich repository and we hope this legacy will be fruitful in developing the evidence base going forward.

genHOME citation categories

Benefits on wellbeing of accessible and inclusive housing solutions

Adams, J., & Grisbrooke, J. (1998). The use of level access showers 12 months after installation. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, *5*(10), 504-510.

Brookfield, K., Fitzsimons, C., Scott, I., Mead, G., Starr, J., Thin, N., . . . Ward Thompson, C. (2015). The home as enabler of more active lifestyles among older people. *Building Research & Information, 43*(5), 616-630. doi:10.1080/09613218.2015.1045702

Carnemolla, P., & Bridge, C. (2016). Accessible housing and health-related quality of life: Measurements of wellbeing outcomes following home modifications *ArchNet-IJAR*, *10*(2).

Cho, H. Y., MacLachlan, M., Clarke, M., & Mannan, H. (2016). Accessible Home Environments for People with Functional Limitations: A Systematic Review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 13(8), 826.

Clark, J., & Kearns, A. (2012). Housing improvements, perceived housing quality and psychosocial benefits from the home. *Hous Stud, 27*. doi:10.1080/02673037.2012.725829

Danziger, S., & Chaudhury, H. (2009). Older Adults' Use of Adaptable Design Features in Housing Units: An Exploratory Study. *Journal of Housing For the Elderly,* 23(3), 134-148.

de Aboim Borges, M., & da Silva, F. M. (2017). *Design Strategies for Inclusive Environments*. Paper presented at the Advances in Ergonomics In Design: Proceedings of the AHFE 2017 International Conference on Ergonomics in Design, July 17–21, 2017, The Westin Bonaventure Hotel, Los Angeles, California, USA.

Egilson, S. T., Jakobsdóttir, G., & Ólafsdóttir, L. B. (2017). Parent perspectives on home participation of high-functioning children with autism spectrum disorder compared with a matched group of children without autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 1362361316685555. doi:10.1177/1362361316685555

Eilertsen, G., Horgen, G., Kvikstad, T. M., & Falkenberg, H. K. (2016). Happy Living in Darkness! Indoor Lighting in Relation to Activities of Daily Living, Visual and General Health in 75-Year-Olds Living at Home. *Journal of Housing For the Elderly,* 30(2), 199-213. doi:10.1080/02763893.2016.1162256

Fange, A., & Iwarsson, S. (2005). Changes in accessibility and usability in housing: An exploration of the housing adaptation process. *Occupational Therapy International*, *12*(1).

- Fernández-Portero, C., Alarcón, D., & Barrios Padura, Á. (2017). Dwelling conditions and life satisfaction of older people through residential satisfaction. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 49, 1-7. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2016.11.003
- Fox, S., Kenny, L., Day, M. R., O'Connell, C., Finnerty, J., & Timmons, S. (2017). Exploring the Housing Needs of Older People in Standard and Sheltered Social Housing. *Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine*, *3*, 2333721417702349. doi:10.1177/2333721417702349
- Gitlin, L. N., Winter, L., Corcoran, M., Dennis, M. P., Schinfeld, S., & Hauck, W. W. (2003). Effects of the home environmental skill-building program on the caregiver–care recipient dyad: 6-month outcomes from the Philadelphia REACH initiative. *Gerontologist*, *43*(4), 532-546.
- Gobbens, R. J., & van Assen, M. A. (2017). Associations of environmental factors with quality of life in older adults. *Gerontologist*.
- Helle, T., Iwarsson, S., & Brandt, Å. (2013). Validation of Housing Standards Addressing Accessibility Exploration of an Activity-Based Approach. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 0733464813503042.
- Heywood, F. (2005). Adaptation: Altering the House to Restore the Home. *Housing Studies*, *20*(4), 531-547. doi:10.1080/02673030500114409
- Houle, J., Coulombe, S., Radziszewski, S., Leloup, X., Saïas, T., Torres, J., & Morin, P. (2017) An intervention strategy for improving residential environment and positive mental health among public housing tenants: rationale, design and methods of Flash on my neighborhood! *BMC Public Health*, *17*(1), 737. doi:10.1186/s12889-017-4730-9
- Imrie, R., & Luck, R. (2014). Designing inclusive environments: rehabilitating the body and the relevance of universal design. *Disability & Rehabilitation*(0), 1-5.
- Iwarsson, S., Wahl, H.-W., Nygren, C., Oswald, F., Sixsmith, A., Sixsmith, J., . . . Tomsone, S. (2007). Importance of the home environment for healthy aging: Conceptual and methodological background of the European ENABLE–AGE Project. *Gerontologist*, *47*(1), 78-84.
- Johansson, K., Josephsson, S., & Lilja, M. (2008). Creating possibilities for action in the presence of environmental barriers in the process of 'ageing in place'. *Ageing and Society*, *29*(01), 49. doi:10.1017/s0144686x08007538
- King, A., & Cronin, A. (2016). Bonds, bridges and ties: applying social capital theory to LGBT people's housing concerns later in life. *Quality in Ageing and Older Adults*, 17(1), null. doi:doi:10.1108/QAOA-05-2015-0023
- Layton, N. A., & Steel, E. J. (2015). "An Environment Built to Include Rather than Exclude Me": Creating Inclusive Environments for Human Well-Being. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *12*(9), 11146-11162.

Marmot, A., & Ucci, M. (2015). Sitting less, moving more: the indoor built environment as a tool for change. *Building Research & Information, 43*(5), 561-565. doi:10.1080/09613218.2015.1069081

Mustaquim, M. M. (2015). A Study of Universal Design in Everyday Life of Elderly Adults.

Orrell, A., McKee, K., Torrington, J., Barnes, S., Darton, R., Netten, A., & Lewis, A. (2013). The relationship between building design and residents' quality of life in extra care housing schemes. *Health & Place*, *21*, 52-64.

Oswald, F., Jopp, D., Rott, C., & Wahl, H. W. (2011). Is aging in place a resource for or risk to life satisfaction? *Gerontologist*, *51*(2), 238-250. doi:10.1093/geront/gnq096

Persad, U., Langdon, P., & Clarkson, J. (2007). Characterising user capabilities to support inclusive design evaluation. *Universal Access in the Information Society*, 6(2), 119-135. doi:10.1007/s10209-007-0083-y

Petersson, I., Lilja, M., & Borell, L. (2012). To feel safe in everyday life at home—a study of older adults after home modifications. *Ageing and Society*, 32(05), 791-811.

Rojo-Pérez, F., Fernández-Mayoralas, G., Forjaz, M.-J., Prieto-Flores, M.-E., & Martínez-Martín, P. (2016). Residential Environment and Health Conditions Among Older-Adults in Community-Dwelling in Spain: What Influences Quality of Life? In D. Sánchez-González & V. Rodríguez-Rodríguez (Eds.), *Environmental Gerontology in Europe and Latin America* (Vol. 13, pp. 149-174): Springer International Publishing.

Rooney, C., Hadjri, K., Faith, V., Rooney, M., McAllister, K., & Craig, C. (2017). Living Independently. *HERD: Health Environments Research & Design Journal*, 1937586717696699. doi:10.1177/1937586717696699

Sixsmith, A., & Sixsmith, J. (2008). Ageing in place in the United Kingdom. *Ageing International*, 32(3), 219-235.

Thordardottir, B., Ekstam, L., Chiatti, C., & Fänge, A. M. (2016). Factors associated with participation frequency and satisfaction among people applying for a housing adaptation grant. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 1-10. doi:10.3109/11038128.2016.1139622

Wiesel, I., Laragy, C., Gendera, S., Fisher, K. R., Jenkinson, S., Hill, T., ... Bridge, C. (2015). Moving to my home: Housing aspirations, transitions and outcomes of people with disability (AHURI Final Report No. 246). Melbourne: Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute

Yang, H.-Y., & Stark, S. L. (2010). The Role of Environmental Features in Social Engagement Among Residents Living in Assisted Living Facilities. *Journal of Housing For the Elderly*, 24(1), 28-43. doi:10.1080/02763890903547062

Yen, I. H., Shim, J. K., Martinez, A. D., & Barker, J. C. (2012). Older people and social connectedness: how place and activities keep people engaged. *J Aging Res, 2012*.

Zapotoczna, M. (2017). Satisfying the Housing Needs of Disabled Citizens in North-Eastern Poland. *European Journal of Social Sciences Education and Research*, 11(1), 107-115.

Prevention of ill health through housing interventions

Bhatta, S., Deave, T., & Mytton, J. (2015). Environmental change to reduce child injury in low and middle income countries: A systematic review.

Bhidayasiri, R., Jitkritsadakul, O., Boonrod, N., Sringean, J., Calne, S. M., Hattori, N., & Hayashi, A. (2015). What is the evidence to support home environmental adaptation in Parkinson's disease? A call for multidisciplinary interventions. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, *21*(10), 1127-1132.

Boggs, T. L. (2016). The Effects of Environmental Modifications and Visual Supports in the Home on Engagement and Challenging Behaviors in Children with Autism.

Bond, L., Kearns, A., Mason, P., Tannahill, C., Egan, M., & Whitely, E. (2012). Exploring the relationships between housing, neighbourhoods and mental wellbeing for residents of deprived areas. *BMC Public Health*, *12*. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-12-48

Bowman, R., & Graham-Bowman, N. (2015). *Goldilocks, slip resistance and the wicked problem of falls prevention.* Paper presented at the Proceedings 19th Triennial Congress of the IEA.

Byles, J. E., Mackenzie, L., Redman, S., Parkinson, L., Leigh, L., & Curryer, C. (2012). Supporting housing and neighbourhoods for healthy ageing: Findings from the Housing and Independent Living Study (HAIL). *Australasian Journal on Ageing*. doi:10.1111/j.1741-6612.2012.00646.x

Carnemolla, P., & Bridge, C. A scoping review of home modification interventions – Mapping the evidence base. *Indoor and Built Environment, 0*(0), 1420326X18761112. doi:10.1177/1420326x18761112

Carnemolla, P., & Bridge, C. Systematic Review: Evidence on Home Modifications.

Chard, G., Liu, L., & Mulholland, S. (2009). Verbal cueing and environmental modifications: strategies to improve engagement in occupations in persons with Alzheimer disease. *Physical & Occupational Therapy In Geriatrics*, 27(3), 197-211.

Chase, C. A., Mann, K., Wasek, S., & Arbesman, M. (2012). Systematic review of the effect of home modification and fall prevention programs on falls and the performance of community-dwelling older adults. *Am J Occup Ther, 66*(3), 284-291. doi:10.5014/ajot.2012.005017

Chu, M. M.-L., Fong, K. N.-K., Lit, A. C.-H., Rainer, T. H., Cheng, S. W.-C., Au, F. L.-Y., . . . Tong, H.-K. (2016). An Occupational Therapy Fall Reduction Home Visit Program for Community-Dwelling Older Adults in Hong Kong After an Emergency Department Visit for a Fall. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. doi:10.1111/jgs.14527

Conway, J. (1995). Housing as an instrument of health care. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, *3*(3), 141-150.

- Fortinsky, R. H., Gitlin, L. N., Pizzi, L. T., Piersol, C. V., Grady, J., Robison, J. T., & Molony, S. (2016). Translation of the Care of Persons with Dementia in their Environments (COPE) intervention in a publicly-funded home care context: Rationale and research design. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, *49*, 155-165.
- Gadakari, T. S. (2017). Promoting Ageing-in-Place: Design of residential buildings for older people in China. *Environment-Behaviour Proceedings Journal*, 2(6).
- Gill, T. M., Williams, C. S., & Tinetti, M. E. (2000). Environmental hazards and the risk of nonsyncopal falls in the homes of community-living older persons. *Med Care*, 38. doi:10.1097/00005650-200012000-00004
- Gitlin, L. N., Hauck, W. W., Dennis, M. P., Winter, L., Hodgson, N., & Schinfeld, S. (2009). Long-Term Effect on Mortality of a Home Intervention that Reduces Functional Difficulties in Older Adults: Results from a Randomized Trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *57*(3), 476-481.
- Gitlin, L. N., Hauck, W. W., Winter, L., Dennis, M. P., & Schulz, R. (2006). Effect of an In-Home Occupational and Physical Therapy Intervention on Reducing Mortality in Functionally Vulnerable Older People: Preliminary Findings. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *54*(6), 950-955. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2006.00733.x
- Gitlin, L. N., Winter, L., Dennis, M. P., Corcoran, M., Schinfeld, S., & Hauck, W. W. (2006). A Randomized Trial of a Multicomponent Home Intervention to Reduce Functional Difficulties in Older Adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society,*, 54(5), 809-816. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2006.00703.x
- Granbom, M., Iwarsson, S., Kylberg, M., Pettersson, C., & Slaug, B. (2016). A public health perspective to environmental barriers and accessibility problems for senior citizens living in ordinary housing. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 772.
- Heywood, F. (2004). The health outcomes of housing adaptations. *Disability & Society, 19*(2), 129-143. doi:10.1080/0968759042000181767
- Hwang, E., Cummings, L., Sixsmith, A., & Sixsmith, J. (2011). Impacts of Home Modifications on Aging-in-Place. *Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 25*(3), 246-257. doi:10.1080/02763893.2011.595611
- Jensen, L., & Padilla, R. (2017). Effectiveness of Environment-Based Interventions That Address Behavior, Perception, and Falls in People With Alzheimer's Disease and Related Major Neurocognitive Disorders: A Systematic Review. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 71(5), 7105180030p7105180031-7105180030p7105180010. doi:10.5014/ajot.2017.027409
- Keall, M.D., Pierse, N., Howden-Chapman, P., Cunningham, C., Cunningham, M., Guria, J. and Baker, M.G., 2015. Home modifications to reduce injuries from falls in the Home Injury Prevention Intervention (HIPI) study: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. The Lancet, 385(9964), pp.231-238.
- Leng, G. (2016). Home is Where the Health is: A Greater Manchester Programme. *Representation*, 1-8. doi:10.1080/00344893.2016.1165518

- Puts, M.T.E., Toubasi, S., Andrew, M.K., Ashe, M.C., Ploeg, J., Atkinson, E., Ayala, A.P., Roy, A., Rodríguez Monforte, M., Bergman, H. and McGilton, K., 2017. Interventions to prevent or reduce the level of frailty in community-dwelling older adults: a scoping review of the literature and international policies. Age and ageing, 46(3), pp.383-392.
- Oaks, M. (2017). The Importance of Home Modification for Occupational Participation and Safety for Low-income Older Adult Homeowners. (Unpublished PhD thesis. St Catherine University, USA.Omiya, Y., Suzumura, S., Itoh, N., Osawa, A., Tateno, R., Mizuno, A., & Kondo, I. (2016). Effect of adaptations to the living environment on ADL abilities and self-perception of performance/satisfaction—Based on experience from post-discharge home visits—. *Japanese Journal of Comprehensive Rehabilitation Science*, 7, 95-101.
- Petersson, I., Lilja, M., & Borell, L. (2012). To feel safe in everyday life at home a study of older adults after home modifications. *Ageing and Society*, 32(05), 791-811.
- Pighills, A., Ballinger, C., Pickering, R., & Chari, S. (2016). A critical review of the effectiveness of environmental assessment and modification in the prevention of falls amongst community dwelling older people. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 79(3), 133-143. doi:10.1177/0308022615600181
- Pynoos, J., Steinman, B. A., Do Nguyen, A. Q., & Bressette, M. (2012). Assessing and Adapting the Home Environment to Reduce Falls and Meet the Changing Capacity of Older Adults. *Journal of Housing For the Elderly*, *26*(1-3), 137-155. doi:10.1080/02763893.2012.673382
- Reuben, D. B., Gazarian, P., Alexander, N., Araujo, K., Baker, D., Bean, J. F., . . . Latham, N. (2017). The Strategies to Reduce Injuries and Develop Confidence in Elders Intervention: Falls Risk Factor Assessment and Management, Patient Engagement, and Nurse Co-management. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*.
- Ritchey, K. C., Meyer, D., & Ice, G. H. (2015). Non-therapist identification of falling hazards in older adult homes using digital photography. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, *2*(Supplement C), 794-797. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.09.004
- Robinovitch, S. N., Scott, V., & Feldman, F. (2015). Home-safety modifications to reduce injuries from falls. *The Lancet, 385*(9964), 205-206.
- Rubenstein, L., & Josephson, K. (2006). Falls and their prevention in elderly people: what does the evidence show? *Med Clin North Am, 90.* doi:10.1016/j.mcna.2006.05.013
- Sattin, R. W., Rodriguez, J. G., DeVito, C. A., & Wingo, P. A. (1998). Home environmental hazards and the risk of fall injury events among community-dwelling older persons. Study to assess falls among the elderly (SAFE) group. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society*, *46*. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.1998.tb03799.x

- Semeah, L. M., Ahrentzen, S., Jia, H., Cowper Ripley, D. C., Levy, C. E., & Mann, W. C. (2017). The Home Improvements and Structural Alterations Benefits Program: Veterans With Disabilities and Home Accessibility. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 1044207317696275.
- Slaug, B., Iwarsson, S., Ayala, J. A., & Nilsson, M. H. (2017). Housing accessibility problems for people with Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*. doi:10.1111/ane.12763
- Stark, S., Keglovits, M., Arbesman, M., & Lieberman, D. (2017). Effect of Home Modification Interventions on the Participation of Community-Dwelling Adults With Health Conditions: A Systematic Review. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 71(2), 7102290010p7102290011-7102290010p7102290011. doi:10.5014/ajot.2017.018887
- Stark, S., Keglovits, M., Somerville, E., Hu, Y.-L., Conte, J., & Yan, Y. (2017). Feasibility of a novel intervention to improve participation after stroke. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 0308022617736704.
- Stark, S., Somerville, E., Keglovits, M., Conte, J., Li, M., Hu, Y.-L., & Yan, Y. (2017). Protocol for the home hazards removal program (HARP) study: a pragmatic, randomized clinical trial and implementation study. *BMC geriatrics*, *17*(1), 90. doi:10.1186/s12877-017-0478-4
- Stevens, M., Holman, C. D. A., & Bennett, N. (2001). Preventing falls in older people: impact of an intervention to reduce environmental hazards in the home, *Journal of the American Geriatric Society*, 49. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2001.4911235.x
- Struckmeyer, L. R., & Pickens, N. D. (2015). Home Modifications for People With Alzheimer's Disease: A Scoping Review. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy,* 70(1), 7001270020p7001270021-7001270020p7001270029. doi:10.5014/ajot.2015.016089
- Sturkenboom, I. H., Nijhuis-van der Sanden, M. W., & Graff, M. J. (2015). A process evaluation of a home-based occupational therapy intervention for Parkinson's patients and their caregivers performed alongside a randomized controlled trial. *Clinical rehabilitation*. doi:10.1177/0269215515622038
- Talbot, L., Musiol, R., Witham, E., & Metter, E. J. (2005). Falls in young, middle-aged and older community dwelling adults: perceived cause, environmental factors and injury. *BMC Public Health*, *5*. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-5-86
- Tongsiri, S., Ploylearmsang, C., Hawsutisima, K., Riewpaiboon, W., & Tangcharoensathien, V. (2017). Modifying homes for persons with physical disabilities in Thailand. *Bulletin of the World Health Organisation*, *95*(2), 140-145.
- Tse, T. (2005). The environment and falls prevention: Do environmental modifications make a difference? *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, *5*2(4), 271-281. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1630.2005.00525.x
- Zingmark, M., & Bernspång, B. (2011). Meeting the needs of elderly with bathing disability. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, *58*(3), 164-171.

Evidence of the causal pathways that explain how interventions achieve beneficial or harmful effects

Understanding person—environment fit

Allen, F., Cain, R., & Meyer, C. (2017). How people with dementia and their carers adapt their homes. A qualitative study. Dementia, 1471301217712294.

Carp, F. M., & Carp, A. (1984). A complementary/congruence model of well-being or mental health for the community elderly. Elderly people and the environment (pp. 279-336): Springer.

Clarke, P., & George, L. (2005). The Role of the built Enviornment in the Disablement Process. American Journal of Public Health, 95(11). doi:10.2105/ajph.2004

Cutchin, M. P. (2004). Using Deweyan Philosophy To Rename and Reframe Adaptation-to-Environment. The American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 58(3).

Eisenberg, Y., Vanderbom, K. A., & Vasudevan, V. (2017). Does the built environment moderate the relationship between having a disability and lower levels of physical activity? A systematic review. Preventive Medicine, 95, S75-S84.

Gitlin, L. N., Mann, w., & Tomits, M. (2001). Factors associated with home environmental problems among community-living older people. Disability and Rehabilitation, 23(17). doi:10.1080/0963828011006216

Golant, S. M. (2012). Out of Their Residential Comfort and Mastery Zones: Toward a More Relevant Environmental Gerontology. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 26(1-3), 26-43. doi:10.1080/02763893.2012.655654

Imrie, R. (2004). Housing quality, disability and domesticity. Hous Stud, 19. doi:10.1080/0267303042000249143

Iwarsson, S. (2003). Assessing the fit between older people and their physical home environments: An occupational therapy research perspective. Annual review of gerontology and geriatrics, 23, 85-109.

Iwarsson, S. (2012). Implementation of Research-Based Strategies to Foster Person–Environment Fit in Housing Environments: Challenges and Experiences during 20 Years. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 26(1-3), 62-71. doi:10.1080/02763893.2012.651378

Iwarsson, S., Horstmann, V., Carlsson, G., Oswald, F., & Wahl, H. W. (2009). Person—environment fit predicts falls in older adults better than the consideration of environmental hazards only. Clinical rehabilitation, 23(6), 558-567.

Jahiel, R. I., & Scherer, M. J. (2010). Initial steps towards a theory and praxis of person–environment interaction in disability. Disability Rehabilitation, 32(17), 1467-1474. doi:10.3109/09638280802590637

- James III, R. N., & Sweaney, A. L. (2010). Housing dissatisfaction and cognitive decline in older adults. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 24(1), 93-106.
- Kahana, E. (1982). A congruence model of person-environment interaction. Aging and the environment: Theoretical approaches (pp. 97-121).
- Kahana, E., Lovegreen, L., Kahana, B., & Kahana, M. (2003). Person, environment, and person-environment fit as influences on residential satisfaction of elders. Environment and Behavior, 35(3), 434-453.
- Leibing, A., Guberman, N., & Wiles, J. (2016). Liminal homes: Older people, loss of capacities, and the present future of living spaces. Journal of Aging Studies, 37, 10-19. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaging.2015.12.002
- Lien, L. L., Steggell, C. D., & Iwarsson, S. (2015). Adaptive Strategies and Person-Environment Fit among Functionally Limited Older Adults Aging in Place: A Mixed Methods Approach. International journal of environmental research and public health, 12(9), 11954-11974.
- Magasi, S., Wong, A., Gray, D. B., Hammel, J., Baum, C., Wang, C.-C., & Heinemann, A. W. (2015). Theoretical foundations for the measurement of environmental factors and their impact on participation among people with disabilities. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 96(4), 569-577.
- Morales, E., & Rousseau, J. (2010). Which Areas of the Home Pose Most Difficulties for Adults with Motor Disabilities? Physical & Occupational Therapy In Geriatrics, 28(2), 103-116. doi:10.3109/02703181003728903
- Moser, G. (2009). Quality of life and sustainability: toward person-environment congruity. J Environ Psychol, 29. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2009.02.002
- Oswald, F., Wahl, H. W., Martin, M., & Mollenkopf, H. (2003). Toward Measuring Proactivity in Person-Environment Transactions in Late Adulthood. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 17(1-2), 135-152.
- Park, S., Han, Y., Kim, B., & Dunkle, R. E. (2015). Aging in Place of Vulnerable Older Adults: Person–Environment Fit Perspective. Journal of Applied Gerontology. doi:10.1177/0733464815617286
- Rose, K. C., Gitlin, L. N., & Dennis, M. P. (2010). Readiness to use compensatory strategies among older adults with functional difficulties. International Psychogeriatrics, 22(08), 1225-1239.
- Saidi Sief, A., Pruski, A., & Bennia, A. (2016). A New Approach for Handling Element Accessibility Problems Faced by Persons with a Wheelchair. Journal of Automation Mobile Robotics and Intelligent Systems, 10.
- Shin, J.-h. (2016). Toward a theory of environmental satisfaction and human comfort: A process-oriented and contextually sensitive theoretical framework. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 45, 11-21. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2015.11.004

- Slaug, B., Schilling, O., Iwarsson, S., & Carlsson, G. (2015). Typology of personenvironment fit constellations: a platform addressing accessibility problems in the built environment for people with functional limitations. BMC Public Health, 15.
- Stark, S. (2001). Creating disability in the home: The role of enronmental barriers in the United States. Disability and Society. doi:10.1080/09687590020020859
- Strong, S., Rigby, P., Stewert, D., Law, M., Letts, L., & Cooper, B. (1999). Application of the Person-Enviornment-Occupation Model: A practical tool. Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 66(3).
- Szanton, S. L., Roberts, L., Leff, B., Walker, J. L., Seplaki, C. L., Soones, T., . . . Ornstein, K. A. (2016). Home but still engaged: participation in social activities among the homebound. Quality of Life Research, 1-8.
- Tomey, K., & Mayfran, R. (2009). A Conceptual Model Encompassing Environmental Factors and Individual Compensation Strategies. Physical therapy, 89(7).
- van Hoof, J., Sprong, M., Marston, H., & Janssen, B. (2015). The Use of Mood Boards to Study Housing Needs of Nursing Home Residents with Dementia. International Journal for Innovative Research in Science and Technology, 2(4), 62-71.
- Iwarsson, S., Löfqvist, C., Oswald, F., Slaug, B., Schmidt, S., Wahl, H.-W., . . . Haak, M. (2016). Synthesizing ENABLE-AGE research findings to suggest evidence-based home and health interventions. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 30(3), 330-343.
- Wasserman, D., & Aas, S. (2016). BCIs and disability: enhancement, environmental modification, and embodiment. Brain-Computer Interfaces, 3(3), 126-132. doi:10.1080/2326263X.2016.1207127

Werngren-Elgström, M., Carlsson, G., & Iwarsson, S. (2009). A 10-year follow-up study on subjective well-being and relationships to person—environment (P–E) fit and activity of daily living (ADL) dependence of older Swedish adults. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 49(1), e16-e22.

Ageing in place

- Cutchin, M. P., Chang, P.-F. J., & Owen, S. V. (2005). Expanding Our Understanding of the Assisted Living Experience. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 19(1), 5-22. doi:10.1300/J081v19n01_02
- Dyck, I., Kontos, P., Angus, J., & McKeever, P. (2005). The home as a site for long-term care: meanings and management of bodies and spaces. Health Place, 11. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2004.06.001
- Fänge, A. M., Oswald, F., & Clemson, L. (2012). Aging in place in late life: theory, methodology, and intervention. Journal of Aging Research, 2012.

Mowl, G., Pain, R., & Talbot, C. (1999). The ageing body and the homespace. Area, 32(2).

Gilroy, R. (2012). Older People: Housing Institutions. In S. J. Smith (Ed.), International Encyclopaedia of Housing and Home (pp. 136-142). San Diego: Elsevier.

Gitlin, L. N., Szanton, S. L., & Hodgson, N. A. (2013). It's Complicated—But Doable: The Right Supports Can Enable Elders with Complex Conditions to Successfully Age in Community. Generations, 37(4), 51-61.

Goodacre, K., McCreadie, C., Flanagan, S., & Lansley, P. (2007). Enabling older people to stay at home: how adaptable are existing properties? The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 70(1), 5-15.

Howden-Chapman, P., Signal, L., & Crane, J. (1999). Housing and health in older people: ageing in place. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand, 14-30.

Kirchen, T. M., & Hersch, G. (2015). Understanding Person and Environment Factors that Facilitate Veteran Adaptation to Long-Term Care. Physical & Occupational Therapy In Geriatrics, 33(3), 204-219. doi:10.3109/02703181.2015.1037979

MacMillan, C., & Stevens, N. J. (2017). It is the neighbourhood-not the house-that matters. Intellectual Disability Australasia, 38(2), 11.

Means, R. (2007). Safe as houses? Ageing in place and vulnerable older people in the UK. Social Policy & Administration, 41(1), 65-85.

Nygren, C., Oswald, F., Iwarsson, S., Fänge, A., Sixsmith, J., Schilling, O., . . . Wahl, H. W. (2007). Relationships between objective and perceived housing in very old age. Gerontologist, 47(1), 85-95.

Preusse, K. C., Gonzalez, E. T., Singleton, J. L., Mitzner, T. L., & Rogers, W. A. (2016). Understanding the needs of individuals ageing with impairment. International Journal of Human Factors and Ergonomics, 4(2), 144-168.

Ralston, M. (2017). The Role of Older Persons' Environment in Aging Well: Quality of Life, Illness, and Community Context in South Africa. Gerontologist.

Rowles, G. D., & Bernard, M. (2013). The meaning and significance of place in old age Environmental gerontology: Making meaningful places in old age (pp. 3-24).

Rubinstein, R. L. (1989). The home environments of older people: A description of the psychosocial processes linking person to place. Journal of Gerontology, 44(2), S45-S53.

Schwanen, T., Hardill, I., & Lucas, S. (2012). Spatialities of ageing: The co-construction and co-evolution of old age and space. Geoforum, 43(6), 1291-1295. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2012.07.002

Sixsmith, J., Sixsmith, A., Fänge, A.M., Naumann, D., Kucsera, C.S.A.B.A., Tomsone, S., Haak, M., Dahlin-Ivanoff, S. and Woolrych, R., 2014. Healthy ageing and home: The perspectives of very old people in five European countries. Social Science & Medicine, 106, pp.1-9.

Smith, R.J., Lehning, A.J. and Kim, K., 2017. Aging in place in gentrifying neighborhoods: Implications for physical and mental health. The Gerontologist, 58(1), pp.26-35.

Thang, L. L., & Hong, S.-I. (2015). Ageing-in-place in studio apartments in Singapore: maintaining independence in community living. Asia Pacific Journal of Social Work and Development, 1-14. doi:10.1080/02185385.2015.1120414

van der Vorst, A., Zijlstra, G. A. R., Witte, N. D., Duppen, D., Stuck, A. E., Kempen, G. I. J. M., . . . on behalf of the, D. S. C. (2016). Limitations in Activities of Daily Living in Community-Dwelling People Aged 75 and Over: A Systematic Literature Review of Risk and Protective Factors. PloS one, 11(10), e0165127. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0165127

Vasara, P. (2015). Not ageing in place: Negotiating meanings of residency in agerelated housing. Journal of Aging Studies, 35, 55-64. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaging.2015.07.004

Wahl, H.-W. (2001). Environmental influences on aging and behavior. In J. E. Birren & K. W. Schaie (Eds.), Handbook of the psychology of aging (Vol. 5, pp. 215-237). US: Academic Press.

Wahl, H.-W. (2015). Theories of Environmental Influences on Aging and Behavior. In N. A. Pachana (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Geropsychology (pp. 1-8): Springer Singapore.

Wahl, H.-W., Iwarsson, S., & Oswald, F. (2012). Aging well and the environment: toward an integrative model and research agenda for the future. Gerontologist, 52(3), 306-316.

Wahl, H.-W., & Lang, F. R. (2003). Aging in context across the adult life course: Integrating physical and social environmental research perspectives. Annual review of gerontology and geriatrics, 23, 1-33.

Wiles, J. L., Leibing, A., Guberman, N., Reeve, J., & Allen, R. E. (2012). The meaning of "aging in place" to older people. Gerontologist, 52(3), 357-366.

Meaning of home

Cutchin, M. P., Chang, P.-F. J., & Owen, S. V. (2005). Expanding Our Understanding of the Assisted Living Experience. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 19(1), 5-22. doi:10.1300/J081v19n01 02

Dyck, I., Kontos, P., Angus, J., & McKeever, P. (2005). The home as a site for long-term care: meanings and management of bodies and spaces. Health Place, 11. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2004.06.001

Fänge, A. M., Oswald, F., & Clemson, L. (2012). Aging in place in late life: theory, methodology, and intervention. Journal of Aging Research, 2012.

Mowl, G, , Pain, R., & Talbot, C. (1999). The ageing body and the homespace. Area, 32(2).

Gilroy, R. (2012). Older People: Housing Institutions. In S. J. Smith (Ed.), International Encyclopedia of Housing and Home (pp. 136-142). San Diego: Elsevier.

Gitlin, L. N., Szanton, S. L., & Hodgson, N. A. (2013). It's Complicated—But Doable: The Right Supports Can Enable Elders with Complex Conditions to Successfully Age in Community. Generations, 37(4), 51-61.

Goodacre, K., McCreadie, C., Flanagan, S., & Lansley, P. (2007). Enabling older people to stay at home: how adaptable are existing properties? The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 70(1), 5-15.

Howden-Chapman, P., Signal, L., & Crane, J. (1999). Housing and health in older people: ageing in place. Social Policy Journal of New Zealand, 14-30.

Kirchen, T. M., & Hersch, G. (2015). Understanding Person and Environment Factors that Facilitate Veteran Adaptation to Long-Term Care. Physical & Occupational Therapy In Geriatrics, 33(3), 204-219. doi:10.3109/02703181.2015.1037979

MacMillan, C., & Stevens, N. J. (2017). It is the neighbourhood - not the house - that matters. Intellectual Disability Australasia, 38(2), 11.

Means, R. (2007). Safe as houses? Ageing in place and vulnerable older people in the UK. Social Policy & Administration, 41(1), 65-85.

Nygren, C., Oswald, F., Iwarsson, S., Fänge, A., Sixsmith, J., Schilling, O., . . . Wahl, H. W. (2007). Relationships between objective and perceived housing in very old age. Gerontologist, 47(1), 85-95.

Preusse, K. C., Gonzalez, E. T., Singleton, J. L., Mitzner, T. L., & Rogers, W. A. (2016). Understanding the needs of individuals ageing with impairment. International Journal of Human Factors and Ergonomics, 4(2), 144-168.

Ralston, M., 2017. The role of older persons' environment in aging well: Quality of life, illness, and community context in South Africa. The Gerontologist, 58(1), pp.111-120.

Rowles, G.D. and Bernard, M.A. eds., 2013. Environmental gerontology: Making meaningful places in old age. Springer Publishing Company.

Rubinstein, R. L. (1989). The home environments of older people: A description of the psychosocial processes linking person to place. Journal of Gerontology, 44(2), S45-S53.

- Schwanen, T., Hardill, I., & Lucas, S. (2012). Spatialities of ageing: The co-construction and co-evolution of old age and space. Geoforum, 43(6), 1291-1295. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2012.07.002
- Sixsmith, J., Sixsmith, A., Fänge, A. M., Naumann, D., Kucsera, C., Tomsone, S., . . . Woolrych, R. (2014). Healthy Ageing and Home: the Perspectives of Very Old People in Five European Countries. Social Science & Medicine.
- Smith, R.J., Lehning, A.J. and Kim, K., 2017. Aging in place in gentrifying neighborhoods: Implications for physical and mental health. The Gerontologist, 58(1), pp.26-35.
- Thang, L. L., & Hong, S.-I. (2015). Ageing-in-place in studio apartments in Singapore: maintaining independence in community living. Asia Pacific Journal of Social Work and Development, 1-14. doi:10.1080/02185385.2015.1120414
- van der Vorst, A., Zijlstra, G. A. R., Witte, N. D., Duppen, D., Stuck, A. E., Kempen, G. I. J. M., . . . on behalf of the, D. S. C. (2016). Limitations in Activities of Daily Living in Community-Dwelling People Aged 75 and Over: A Systematic Literature Review of Risk and Protective Factors. PloS one, 11(10), e0165127. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0165127
- Vasara, P. (2015). Not ageing in place: Negotiating meanings of residency in agerelated housing. Journal of Aging Studies, 35, 55-64. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaging.2015.07.004
- Wahl, H.-W. (2001). Environmental influences on aging and behavior. In J. E. Birren & K. W. Schaie (Eds.), Handbook of the psychology of aging (Vol. 5, pp. 215-237). US: Academic Press.
- Wahl, H.-W. (2015). Theories of Environmental Influences on Aging and Behavior. In N. A. Pachana (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Geropsychology (pp. 1-8): Springer Singapore.
- Wahl, H.-W., Iwarsson, S., & Oswald, F. (2012). Aging well and the environment: toward an integrative model and research agenda for the future. Gerontologist, 52(3), 306-316.
- Wahl, H.-W., & Lang, F. R. (2003). Aging in context across the adult life course: Integrating physical and social environmental research perspectives. Annual review of gerontology and geriatrics, 23, 1-33.
- Wiles, J. L., Leibing, A., Guberman, N., Reeve, J., & Allen, R. E. (2012). The meaning of "aging in place" to older people. Gerontologist, 52(3), 357-366.

Understanding impact of intervention on participation and satisfaction

Anaby, D., Law, M., Coster, W., Bedell, G., Khetani, M., Avery, L., & Teplicky, R. (2014). The mediating role of the environment in explaining participation of children and youth with and without disabilities across home, school, and community. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 95(5), 908-917.

Mayes, R., Cant, R., & Clemson, L. (2011). The Home and Caregiving: Rethinking Space and Its Meaning. OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health, 31(1), 15.

Carlsson, G., Iwarsson, S., & Ståhl, A. (2002). The Personal Component of Accessibility at Group Level: Exploring the Complexity of Functional Capacity. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 9(3), 100-108. doi:10.1080/11038120260246932

de Almeida Mello, J., Declercq, A., Cès, S., Van Durme, T., Van Audenhove, C., & Macq, J. (2016). Exploring Home Care Interventions for Frail Older People in Belgium: A Comparative Effectiveness Study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. doi:10.1111/jgs.14410

Fänge, A., & Ivanoff, S. D. (2009). The home is the hub of health in very old age: Findings from the ENABLE-AGE Project. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 48(3), 340-345.

Gitlin, L. N., Corcoran, M., Winter, L., Boyce, A., & Hauck, W. (2001). A Randomized, Controlled Trial of a Home Environmental Intervention: Effect on Efficacy and Upset in Caregivers and on Daily Function of Persons With Dementia. Gerontologist, 43(1).

Gray, A., & Worlledge, G. (2016). Addressing loneliness and isolation in retirement housing. Ageing and Society, 1-30. doi:10.1017/S0144686X16001239

Gray, D. B., Hollingsworth, H. H., Stark, S., & Morgan, K. A. (2008). A subjective measure of environmental facilitators and barriers to participation for people with mobility limitations. Disability and Rehabilitation, 30(6), 434-457. doi:10.1080/09638280701625377

Grisbrooke, J. (2003). Living with lifts: a study of users' experiences. International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation, 10(2), 76-81.

Haak, M., Fange, A. M., Horstmann, V., & Iwarsson, S. (2008). Two Dimensions of Participation in Very Old Age and Their Relations to Home and Neighborhood Environments. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 62(1).

Iwarsson, S., & Isacsson, A. (1997). Quality of life in the elderly population: an example exploring interrelationships among subjective well-being, ADL dependence, and housing accessibility. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 26.

- Johansson, K., Lilja, M., Petersson, I., & Borell, L. (2007). Performance of activities of daily living in a sample of applicants for home modification services. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 14(1), 44-53. doi:10.1080/11038120601094997
- Kendig, H., Clemson, L., & Mackenzie, L. (2012). Older People: Well-Being, Housing and Neighbourhoods. In S. J. Smith (Ed.), International Encyclopedia of Housing and Home (pp. 150-155). San Diego: Elsevier.
- Keysor, J. J., Jette, A. M., Coster, W., Bettger, J. P., & Haley, S. M. (2006). Association of environmental factors with levels of home and community participation in an adult rehabilitation cohort. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 87(12), 1566-1575. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2006.08.347
- Labbé, D., Jutras, S., & Coulombe, S. (2017). Perceptions on well-being at home of families with people with disabilities: A psycho-environmental perspective. Revue Européenne de Psychologie Appliquée/European Review of Applied Psychology, 67(1), 1-11. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.erap.2016.12.003
- Langi, F. F. G., Oberoi, A., & Balcazar, F. E. (2017). Toward a successful vocational rehabilitation in adults with disabilities: Does residential arrangement matter? Journal of Prevention & Intervention in the Community, 45(2), 124-137.
- Letts, L., Rigby, P., & Stewart, D. (2003). Using environments to enable occupational performance: Slack.
- Mortenson, W. B., Miller, W. C., Backman, C. L., & Oliffe, J. L. (2012). Association between mobility, participation, and wheelchair-related factors in long-term care residents who use wheelchairs as their primary means of mobility. Journal of the American Geriatric Society, 60(7), 1310-1315. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04038.x
- Murphy, S. L., Gretebeck, K. A., & Alexander, N. B. (2007). The bath environment, the bathing task, and the older adult: a review and future directions for bathing disability research. Disability and Rehabilitation, 29(14), 1067-1075. doi:10.1080/09638280600950694
- Nordin, S., McKee, K., Wallinder, M., von Koch, L., Wijk, H., & Elf, M. (2017). Environmental design, activity and interaction in care facilities for older people Innovation in Aging, 1(suppl_1), 455-455. doi:10.1093/geroni/igx004.1625
- Noreau, L., & Boschen, K. (2010). Intersection of participation and environmental factors: a complex interactive process. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 91(9), S44-S53.
- Oswald, F., & Wahl, H.-W. (2004). Housing and health in later life. Reviews on environmental health, 19(3-4), 223-252.
- Oswald, F., Wahl, H. W., schilling, O., & Iwarsson, S. (2007). Housing-related control beliefs and independence in activities of daily living in very old age. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 14.

Pettersson, C., Brandt, Å., Lexell, E. M., & Iwarsson, S. (2015). Autonomy and Housing Accessibility Among Powered Mobility Device Users. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 69(5), 6905290030p6905290031-6905290030p6905290039. doi:10.5014/ajot.2015.015347

Pettersson, C., Slaug, B., Granbom, M., Kylberg, M., & Iwarsson, S. (2017). Housing accessibility for senior citizens in Sweden: Estimation of the effects of targeted elimination of environmental barriers. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 1-15. doi:10.1080/11038128.2017.1280078

Portegijs, E., Rantakokko, M., Viljanen, A., Rantanen, T., & Iwarsson, S. (2017). Perceived and objective entrance-related environmental barriers and daily out-of-home mobility in community-dwelling older people. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 69, 69-76. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2016.11.011

Portegijs, E., Rantakokko, M., Viljanen, A., Sipilä, S., & Rantanen, T. (2016). Identification of older people at risk of ADL disability using the life-space assessment: a longitudinal cohort study. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 17(5), 410-414.

Pritchard, E. (2015). The spatial experiences of dwarfs within public spaces. Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research, 1-9. doi:10.1080/15017419.2015.1063542

Rigby, P., & Letts, L. (2003). Environment and occupational performance: Theoretical considerations Using environments to enable occupational performance (pp. 17-32).

Romli, M. H., Tan, M. P., Mackenzie, L., Lovarini, M., Kamaruzzaman, S. B., & Clemson, L. (2017). Factors associated with home hazards: findings from the Malaysian Elders Longitudinal Research study. Geriatrics & Gerontology International.

Schreuer, N. (2016). The Use and Appraisal of Home Modifications by Older Adults. J Ergonomics, 6(161), 2.

Serrano-Urrea, R., Gómez-Rubio, V., Palacios-Ceña, D., Fernández-de-las-Peñas, C., & García-Meseguer, M. J. (2017). Individual and institutional factors associated with functional disability in nursing home residents: An observational study with multilevel analysis. PloS one, 12(8), e0183945.

Soma, Y., Tsunoda, K., Kitano, N., Jindo, T., Tsuji, T., Saghazadeh, M., & Okura, T. (2016). Relationship between built environment attributes and physical function in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. Geriatrics & Gerontology International,. doi:10.1111/ggi.12717

Stara, V., Felici, E., Di Rosa, M., Olivetti, P., & Rossi, L. (2017). Multifaceted Factors That Influence the Housing Decision-Making Process: A Pilot Study with Older Adults. Journal of Gerontology and Geriatriatric Research, 6(441), 2.

- Stark, S., Hollingsworth, H. H., Morgan, K. A., & Gray, D. B. (2007). Development of a measure of receptivity of the physical environment. Disability & Rehabilitation, 29(2), 123-137.
- Veitch, J. A. (2008). Investigating and influencing how buildings affect health: interdisciplinary endeavours. Canadian Psychology, 49. doi:10.1037/a0013567
- Vik, K., Lilja, M., & Nygard, L. (2007). The influence of the environment on participation subsequent to rehabilitation as experienced by elderly people in Norway. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 14(2), 86-95. doi:10.1080/11038120600971047
- Wahl, H. W., Fange, A., Oswald, F., Gitlin, L. N., & Iwarsson, S. (2009). The home environment and disability-related outcomes in aging individuals: what is the empirical evidence? Gerontologist, 49(3), 355-367. doi:10.1093/geront/gnp056
- Winfield, J. (2003). Best Adaptation Redeeming Peoples Homes: Enlightened Occupational Therapy. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 66(8), 376-377.
- Yang, H. Y., & Sanford, J. A. (2012). Home and Community Environmental Features, Activity Performance, and Community Participation among Older Adults with Functional Limitations. Journal of Aging Research, 2012, 625758. doi:10.1155/2012/625758

Understanding the adaptation/modification process

- Anaby, D., Law, M., Coster, W., Bedell, G., Khetani, M., Avery, L., & Teplicky, R. (2014). The mediating role of the environment in explaining participation of children and youth with and without disabilities across home, school, and community. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 95(5), 908-917.
- Mayes, R., Cant, R., & Clemson, L. (2011). The Home and Caregiving: Rethinking Space and Its Meaning. OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health, 31(1), 15.
- Carlsson, G., Iwarsson, S., & Ståhl, A. (2002). The Personal Component of Accessibility at Group Level: Exploring the Complexity of Functional Capacity. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 9(3), 100-108. doi:10.1080/11038120260246932
- de Almeida Mello, J., Declercq, A., Cès, S., Van Durme, T., Van Audenhove, C., & Macq, J. (2016). Exploring Home Care Interventions for Frail Older People in Belgium: A Comparative Effectiveness Study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. doi:10.1111/jgs.14410
- Fänge, A., & Ivanoff, S. D. (2009). The home is the hub of health in very old age: Findings from the ENABLE-AGE Project. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 48(3), 340-345.

- Gitlin, L. N., Corcoran, M., Winter, L., Boyce, A., & Hauck, W. (2001). A Randomized, Controlled Trial of a Home Environmental Intervention: Effect on Efficacy and Upset in Caregivers and on Daily Function of Persons With Dementia. Gerontologist, 43(1).
- Gray, A., & Worlledge, G. (2016). Addressing loneliness and isolation in retirement housing. Ageing and Society, 1-30. doi:10.1017/S0144686X16001239
- Gray, D. B., Hollingsworth, H. H., Stark, S., & Morgan, K. A. (2008). A subjective measure of environmental facilitators and barriers to participation for people with mobility limitations. Disabil Rehabil, 30(6), 434-457. doi:10.1080/09638280701625377
- Grisbrooke, J. (2003). Living with lifts: a study of users' experiences. International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation, 10(2), 76-81.
- Haak, M., Fange, A. M., Horstmann, V., & Iwarsson, S. (2008). Two Dimensions of Participation in Very Old Age and Their Relations to Home and Neighborhood Environments. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 62(1).
- Iwarsson, S., & Isacsson, A. (1997). Quality of life in the elderly population: an example exploring interrelationships among subjective well-being, ADL dependence, and housing accessibility. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 26.
- Johansson, K., Lilja, M., Petersson, I., & Borell, L. (2007). Performance of activities of daily living in a sample of applicants for home modification services. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 14(1), 44-53. doi:10.1080/11038120601094997
- Kendig, H., Clemson, L., & Mackenzie, L. (2012). Older People: Well-Being, Housing and Neighbourhoods. In S. J. Smith (Ed.), International Encyclopedia of Housing and Home (pp. 150-155). San Diego: Elsevier.
- Keysor, J. J., Jette, A. M., Coster, W., Bettger, J. P., & Haley, S. M. (2006). Association of environmental factors with levels of home and community participation in an adult rehabilitation cohort. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 87(12), 1566-1575. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2006.08.347
- Labbé, D., Jutras, S., & Coulombe, S. (2017). Perceptions on well-being at home of families with people with disabilities: A psycho-environmental perspective. Revue Européenne de Psychologie Appliquée/European Review of Applied Psychology, 67(1), 1-11. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.erap.2016.12.003
- Langi, F. F. G., Oberoi, A., & Balcazar, F. E. (2017). Toward a successful vocational rehabilitation in adults with disabilities: Does residential arrangement matter? Journal of Prevention & Intervention in the Community, 45(2), 124-137.
- Letts, L., Rigby, P., & Stewart, D. (2003). Using environments to enable occupational performance: Slack.

- Mortenson, W. B., Miller, W. C., Backman, C. L., & Oliffe, J. L. (2012). Association between mobility, participation, and wheelchair-related factors in long-term care residents who use wheelchairs as their primary means of mobility. J Am Geriatr Soc, 60(7), 1310-1315. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.04038.x
- Murphy, S. L., Gretebeck, K. A., & Alexander, N. B. (2007). The bath environment, the bathing task, and the older adult: a review and future directions for bathing disability research. Disability Rehabilitation, 29(14), 1067-1075. doi:10.1080/09638280600950694
- Nordin, S., McKee, K., Wallinder, M., von Koch, L., Wijk, H., & Elf, M. (2017). Environmental design, activity and interaction in care facilities for older people Innovation in Aging, 1(suppl 1), 455-455. doi:10.1093/geroni/igx004.1625
- Noreau, L., & Boschen, K. (2010). Intersection of participation and environmental factors: a complex interactive process. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 91(9), S44-S53.
- Oswald, F., & Wahl, H.-W. (2004). Housing and health in later life. Reviews on environmental health, 19(3-4), 223-252.
- Oswald, F., Wahl, H. W., schilling, O., & Iwarsson, S. (2007). Housing-related control beliefs and independence in activities of daily living in very old age. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 14.
- Pettersson, C., Brandt, Å., Lexell, E. M., & Iwarsson, S. (2015). Autonomy and Housing Accessibility Among Powered Mobility Device Users. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 69(5), 6905290030p6905290031-6905290030p6905290039. doi:10.5014/ajot.2015.015347
- Pettersson, C., Slaug, B., Granbom, M., Kylberg, M., & Iwarsson, S. (2017). Housing accessibility for senior citizens in Sweden: Estimation of the effects of targeted elimination of environmental barriers. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 1-15. doi:10.1080/11038128.2017.1280078
- Portegijs, E., Rantakokko, M., Viljanen, A., Rantanen, T., & Iwarsson, S. (2017). Perceived and objective entrance-related environmental barriers and daily out-of-home mobility in community-dwelling older people. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics, 69, 69-76. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.archger.2016.11.011
- Portegijs, E., Rantakokko, M., Viljanen, A., Sipilä, S., & Rantanen, T. (2016). Identification of older people at risk of ADL disability using the life-space assessment: a longitudinal cohort study. Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 17(5), 410-414.
- Pritchard, E. (2015). The spatial experiences of dwarfs within public spaces. Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research, 1-9. doi:10.1080/15017419.2015.1063542
- Rigby, P., & Letts, L. (2003). Environment and occupational performance: Theoretical considerations Using environments to enable occupational performance (pp. 17-32).

- Romli, M. H., Tan, M. P., Mackenzie, L., Lovarini, M., Kamaruzzaman, S. B., & Clemson, L. (2017). Factors associated with home hazards: findings from the Malaysian Elders Longitudinal Research study. Geriatrics & Gerontology International.
- Schreuer, N. (2016). The Use and Appraisal of Home Modifications by Older Adults. J Ergonomics, 6(161), 2.
- Serrano-Urrea, R., Gómez-Rubio, V., Palacios-Ceña, D., Fernández-de-las-Peñas, C., & García-Meseguer, M. J. (2017). Individual and institutional factors associated with functional disability in nursing home residents: An observational study with multilevel analysis. PloS one, 12(8), e0183945.
- Soma, Y., Tsunoda, K., Kitano, N., Jindo, T., Tsuji, T., Saghazadeh, M., & Okura, T. (2016). Relationship between built environment attributes and physical function in Japanese community-dwelling older adults. Geriatrics & Gerontology International. doi:10.1111/ggi.12717
- Stara, V., Felici, E., Di Rosa, M., Olivetti, P., & Rossi, L. (2017). Multifaceted Factors That Influence the Housing Decision-Making Process: A Pilot Study with Older Adults. Journal of Gerontology and Geriatrics Research, 6(441), 2.
- Stark, S., Hollingsworth, H. H., Morgan, K. A., & Gray, D. B. (2007). Development of a measure of receptivity of the physical environment. Disability & Rehabilitation, 29(2), 123-137.
- Veitch, J. A. (2008). Investigating and influencing how buildings affect health: interdisciplinary endeavours. Canadian Psychology, 49. doi:10.1037/a0013567
- Vik, K., Lilja, M., & Nygard, L. (2007). The influence of the environment on participation subsequent to rehabilitation as experienced by elderly people in Norway. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 14(2), 86-95. doi:10.1080/11038120600971047
- Wahl, H. W., Fange, A., Oswald, F., Gitlin, L. N., & Iwarsson, S. (2009). The home environment and disability-related outcomes in aging individuals: what is the empirical evidence? Gerontologist, 49(3), 355-367. doi:10.1093/geront/gnp056
- Winfield, J. (2003). Best Adaptation Redeeming Peoples Homes: Enlightened Occupational Therapy. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 66(8), 376-377.
- Yang, H. Y., & Sanford, J. A. (2012). Home and Community Environmental Features, Activity Performance, and Community Participation among Older Adults with Functional Limitations. Journal of Aging Research, 2012, 625758. doi:10.1155/2012/625758

Environmental gerontology

Cutchin, M. P. (2007). From Society to Self (and Back) Through Place: Habit in Transactional Context. OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health, 27(1).

Gitlin, L. N. (2003). Conducting Research on Home Environments: Lessons Learned and New Directions. The Gerontonologist, 43(5).

Golant, S. M. (2003). Conceptualizing time and behavior in environmental gerontology: A pair of old issues deserving new thought. Gerontologist, 43(5), 638-648.

Iwarsson, S., & Ståhl, A. (2003). Accessibility, usability and universal design—positioning and definition of concepts describing person-environment relationships. Disability and Rehabilitation, 25(2), 57-66. doi:doi:10.1080/dre.25.2.57.66

Kiernat, J. M. (1982). Environment: The hidden modality. Physical & Occupational Therapy In Geriatrics, 2(1), 3-12.

Oswald, F., Schilling, O., Wahl, H. W., Fänge, A., Sixsmith, J., & Iwarsson, S. (2006). Homeward bound: Introducing a four-domain model of perceived housing in very old age. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 26(3), 187-201.

Peace, S., Wahl, H. W., Mollenkopf, H., & Oswald, F. (2007). Environment and ageing. In Bond J, Westerhof G, Peace S, & Dittman.-Kohl F (Eds.), Ageing in society (3rd ed., pp. 209-234). London: Sage.

Pynoos, J. (2018). Housing for Older Adults: A Personal Journey in Environmental Gerontology. Annual review of gerontology and geriatrics, 38(1), 147-164. doi:10.1891/0198-8794.38.147

Pynoos, J., Nishita, C., & Perelma, L. (2003). Advancements in the Home Modification Field. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 17(1-2), 105-116. doi:10.1300/J081v17n01_08

Regnier, V. (2003). Powell Lawton's Contributions to Purpose-Built Housing Design for the Elderly. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 17(1-2), 39-53.

Scheidt, R. J., & Windley, P. G. (2006). Environmental gerontology: Progress in the post-Lawton era Handbook of the psychology of aging (pp. 105-125).

Wahl, H.-W., & Weisman, G. D. (2003). Environmental gerontology at the beginning of the new millennium: Reflections on its historical, empirical, and theoretical development. Gerontologist, 43(5), 616-627.

Harmful impacts of unsuitable housing

Baar, J., Romppel, M., Igel, U., Brähler, E., & Grande, G. (2016). The association between physical environment and health: indicating the direction of effects using German panel data. International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Health, 1-6.

Braubach, M., & Power, A. (2011). Housing Conditions and Risk: Reporting on a European Study of Housing Quality and Risk of Accidents for Older People. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 25(3), 288-305.

Carter, S. E., Campbell, E. M., Sanson-Fisher, R. W., Redman, S., & Gillespie, W. J. (1997). Environmental hazards in the homes of older people. Age Ageing, 26. doi:10.1093/ageing/26.3.195

Clemson, L., Roland, M., & Cumming, R. G. (1997). Types of hazards in the homes of elderly people. Occupational Therapy Journal Research, 17.

Evans, G. W., & McCoy, J. M. (1998). When buildings don't work: the role of architecture in human health. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 18. doi:10.1006/jevp.1998.0089

Evans, G. W., Wells, N. M., & Moch, A. (2003). Housing and mental health: a review of the evidence and a methodological and conceptual critique. The journal of social Issues, 59. doi:10.1111/1540-4560.00074

Fargo, J.D., Brignone, E., Metraux, S., Peterson, R., Carter, M.E., Barrett, T., Palmer, M., Redd, A., Samore, M.H. and Gundlapalli, A.V., 2017. Homelessness following disability-related discharges from active duty military service in Afghanistan and Iraq. Disability and health journal, 10(4), pp.592-599.

Grenier, A., Barken, R., & McGrath, C. (2016). Homelessness and aging: The contradictory ordering of 'house' and 'home'. Journal of Aging Studies, 39, 73-80.

Johnson, R. (2008). Bringing it all back home: Mental health and housing. Housing, Care and Support, 11. doi:10.1108/14608790200800022

Kort, H. S. (2017). Healthy building environments for ageing adults. Gerontechnology 16(4), 207.

Kyle, T., & Dunn, J. R. (2008). Effects of housing circumstances on health, quality of life and healthcare use for people with severe mental illness: a review. Health Soc Care Community, 16. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2524.2007.00723.x

Kylén, M., Schmidt, S. M., Iwarsson, S., Haak, M., & Ekström, H. (2017). Perceived home is associated with psychological well-being in a cohort aged 67–70 years. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 51, 239-247. doi:http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2017.04.006

Severinsen, C., Breheny, M., & Stephens, C. (2015). Ageing in Unsuitable Places. Housing Studies, 1-15. doi:10.1080/02673037.2015.1122175

Taleporos, G., & Winkler, D. (2017). A vision for housing through specialist disability accommodation and the safeguarding principles to get us there. Parity, 30(4), 23.

Weiss, K. J., & Khan, A. (2015). Hoarding, Housing, and DSM-5. Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law Online, 43(4), 492-498.

Social and economic benefits of well-considered housing solutions

Audit Commission, Fully Equipped: Assisting Independence. 2005. London, Audit Commission.

Bitter, N. A., Roeg, D. P. K., van Nieuwenhuizen, C., & van Weeghel, J. (2016). Identifying profiles of service users in housing services and exploring their quality of life and care needs. BMC Psychiatry, 16(1), 419. doi:10.1186/s12888-016-1122-0

Bligh, J., Cairncross, L., & Porteus, J. (2016). Housing and Adult Social Care. UK. National Institute for Health Research

Bostock, L., & Gleeson, B. (2004). Contested housing landscapes? Social inclusion, deinstitutionalisation and housing policy in Australia. Australian Journal of Social Issues, 39.

Boyle, F., & Thomson, C. (2016). Establishing an evidence base for adapting social housing for an ageing population. Journal of Financial Management of Property and Construction, 21(2), null. doi:doi:10.1108/JFMPC-06-2015-0021

Carnemolla, P. and C. Bridge, 2011, Home Modifications and their impact on waged care substitution, in Home Modification Information Clearinghouse. University of NSW: Sydney

Clarkson, P., Hughes, J., Challis, D., Thorley, L., & Kilshaw, C. (2010). Targeting, Care Management and Preventative Services for Older People: The Cost-Effectiveness of a Pilot Self-Assessment Approach in One Local Authority. British Journal of Social Work, 40(7), 2255-2273. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcq042

Clements, L., & McCormack, S. (2017). Disabled Children and the Cost Effectiveness of Home Adaptations & Disabled Facilities Grants: a Small Scale Pilot. UK. University of Leeds.

Davidson, M., Roys, M., Nicol, S., Ormandy, D., & Ambrose, P. (2009). The real cost of poor housing. Watford, England: BRE Publications, BRE Trust.

Dunn, J. R., Hayes, M., Hulchanski, J. D., Hwang, S. W., & Potvin, L. (2004). Housing as a socioeconomic determinant of health: a Canadian research framework. In P. Howden-Chapman & P. Carroll (Eds.), Housing & health: research, policy and innovation. Wellington, NZ: Steele Roberts.

Heywood, F. (2001). Money well spent: the effectiveness and value of housing adaptations. Bristol, The Policy Press.

Kazak, J., van Hoof, J., Świąder, M., & Szewrański, S. (2017). Real Estate for the Ageing Society–the Perspective of a New Market. Real Estate Management and Valuation, 25(4), 13-24.

- Lansley, P., McCreadie, C., & Tinker, A. (2004). Can adapting the homes of older people and providing assistive technology pay its way? Age and Ageing, 33(6), 571-576.
- Larkin, H., Hitch, D., Watchorn, V., & Ang, S. (2015). Working with Policy and Regulatory Factors to Implement Universal Design in the Built Environment: The Australian Experience. International journal of environmental research and public health, 12(7), 8157-8171.
- Liimatta, H., Lampela, P., Laitinen-Parkkonen, P., & Pitkala, K. (2016). Effects of preventive home visits on older people's use and costs of health care services: A systematic review. European Geriatric Medicine, 7(6), 571-580.
- Ling, C., Henderson, S., Henderson, R., Henderson, M., Pedro, T., & Pang, L. (2008). Cost benefit considerations of preventing elderly falls through environmental modifications to homes in Hana, Maui. Hawaii medical journal, 67(3), 65.
- Muenchberger, H., Ehrlich, C., Parekh, S., & Crozier, M. (2016). The critical role of community-based micro-grants for disability aids and equipment: results from a needs analysis. Disability and Rehabilitation, 38(9), 858-864.
- Paranagamage, P. (2017). Ideas for change 2017: Extra Care Housing in Lincolnshire.
- Ruiz, S., Snyder, L. P., Rotondo, C., Cross-Barnet, C., Colligan, E. M., & Giuriceo, K. (2017). Innovative Home Visit Models Associated With Reductions In Costs, Hospitalizations, And Emergency Department Use. Health Affairs, 36(3), 425-432.
- Staube, T., Leemeijer, B., Geipele, S., Kauškale, L., Geipele, I., Jansen, J., & Ruddock, L. (2016). Economic and financial rationale for age-friendly housing. Journal of Financial Management of Property and Construction, 21(2).
- Thompson, C., Lewis, D., Greenhalgh, T., Taylor, S., Smith, N., Fahy, A., & Cummins, S. (2015). OP70 Olympic-led regeneration and local narratives of housing and health: a qualitative longitudinal study in east London. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 69(Suppl 1), A39-A40. doi:10.1136/jech-2015-206256.69
- van Leeuwen, K., Malley, J., Bosmans, J., Jansen, A., Ostelo, R., van der Horst, H., & Netten, A. (2014). What can local authorities do to improve the social care-related quality of life of older adults living at home? Evidence from the Adult Social Care Survey. Health & Place, 29, 104-113.
- Walsh, E. (2015, August). Home Ecology and Challenges in the Design of Healthy Home Environments: Possibilities for Low-income Home Repair as a Leverage Point for Environmental Justice in Gentrifying Urban Environments (Doctoral Dissertation). University of Texas, Austin, TX.
- Walter, Z. C., Jetten, J., Dingle, G. A., Parsell, C., & Johnstone, M. (2015). Two pathways through adversity: Predicting well-being and housing outcomes among homeless service users. British Journal of Social Psychology. doi:10.1111/bjso.12127

Wilkinson-Meyers, L., Brown, P. M., McNeill, R., Reeve, J., Patston, P., & Baker, R. (2015). To live an ordinary life: resource needs and additional costs for people with a physical impairment. Disability & Society, 1-15. doi:10.1080/09687599.2015.1061479

Wilson, N., Kvizhinadze, G., Pega, F., Nair, N., & Blakely, T. (2017). Home modification to reduce falls at a health district level: Modeling health gain, health inequalities and health costs. PloS one, 12(9), e0184538.

Yen, I. H., & Anderson, L. A. (2012). Built Environment and Mobility of Older Adults: Important Policy and Practice Efforts. Journal of the American Geriatriatric Society.

Ways in which housing processes impact on wellbeing

Ahn, M., & Hegde, A. L. (2011). Perceived Aspects of Home Environment and Home Modifications by Older People Living in Rural Areas. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 25(1), 18-30.

Aplin, T., Thornton, H., & Gustafsson, L. (2017). The unique experience of home for parents and carers of children with disabilities. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 1-10. doi:10.1080/11038128.2017.1280079

Awang, D. (2002). Older people and participation within Disabled Facilities Grant Processes. British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 65(5).

Bentley, R. J., Pevalin, D., Baker, E., Mason, K., Reeves, A., & Beer, A. (2015). Housing affordability, tenure and mental health in Australia and the United Kingdom: a comparative panel analysis. Housing Studies, 1-15. doi:10.1080/02673037.2015.1070796

Berry, S., Carr, P.A., Kool, B., Mohal, J., Morton, S. and Grant, C., 2017. Housing tenure as a focus for reducing inequalities in the home safety environment: evidence from Growing Up in New Zealand. Australian and New Zealand journal of public health, 41(5), pp.530-534.

Bramsson, M., & Andersson, E. (2015). Changing Preferences with Ageing – Housing Choices and Housing Plans of Older People. Housing, Theory and Society, 1-25. doi:10.1080/14036096.2015.1104385

Carp, F. M. (1974). Short-term and long-term prediction of adjustment to a new environment. Journal of Gerontology, 29(4), 444-453.

Ekstam, L., Fänge, A. M., & Carlsson, G. (2016). Negotiating Control: From Recognizing a Need to Making a Decision to Apply for a Housing Adaptation. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 30(4), 345-359.

Feng, I., Chen, J.-H., Zhu, B.-W., & Xiong, L. (2018). Assessment of and Improvement Strategies for the Housing of Healthy Elderly: Improving Quality of Life. Sustainability, 10(3), 722.

Filakti, H., & Fox, J. (1995). Differences in mortality by housing tenure and car access from the OPCS longitudinal study. Population Trends, 81.

Franklin, B. J. (1998). Forms and functions: assessing housing need in the community care context. Health & Social Care in the Community, 6(6), 420-428.

Granbom, M., Slaug, B., Löfqvist, C., Oswald, F., & Iwarsson, S. (2016). Community Relocation in Very Old Age: Changes in Housing Accessibility. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 70(2), 7002270020p7002270021-7002270020p7002270029. doi:10.5014/ajot.2016.016147

- Herbst, J. L. (2017). Permanent Patients: Hospital Discharge Planning Meets Housing Insecurity. Hastings Center Report, 47(1), 6-7.
- Johansson, K., Borell, L., & Lilja, M. (2009). Older persons' navigation through the service system towards home modification resources. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 16(4), 227-237. doi:10.3109/11038120802684307
- Kavanagh, A. M., Aitken, Z., Baker, E., LaMontagne, A. D., Milner, A., & Bentley, R. (2016). Housing tenure and affordability and mental health following disability acquisition in adulthood. Social Science & Medicine, 151, 225-232. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.01.010
- Kenny, L., Day, M. R., O'Connell, C., Finnerty, J., Timmons, S., & Fox, S. (2016). Qualitative exploration of the housing needs of marginalised older people in social housing: focus-groups with 'mainstream' and 'sheltered' tenants. Age and Ageing, 45(suppl 2), ii13-ii56. doi:10.1093/ageing/afw159.92
- Labbé, D., Jutras, S., & Jutras, D. (2015). Housing priorities of persons with a spinal cord injury and their household members. Disability and Rehabilitation, 1-14. doi:10.3109/09638288.2015.1107641
- Leung, M.-y., Famakin, I., & Kwok, T. (2017). Relationships between indoor facilities management components and elderly people's quality of life: A study of private domestic buildings. Habitat International, 66, 13-23. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2017.05.002
- Logan, P., Batchvarova, M., & Read, C. (1997). A study of the housing needs of disabled applicants to the Nottingham City Council housing department and the problems faced by local housing providers in meeting these needs. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 60(3), 129-131.
- Lovelace, W. (2016). Housing equity, housing inclusion. Architecture Australia, 105(5), 34.
- Neville, S., Napier, S., Adams, J., Wham, C., & Jackson, D. (2016). An integrative review of the factors related to building age-friendly rural communities. Journal of Clinical Nursing. doi:10.1111/jocn.13299
- Nocon, A., & Pleace, N. (1998). The housing needs of disabled people. Health & Social Care in the Community, 6(5), 361-369.
- Oram, L., Jung, Y. M., Millikan, L. & Bridge, C. (2008). Modify or Move: Summary bulletin. Sydney: Home Modification Information Clearinghouse, University of Sydney. Piat, M. (2008). Housing preferences of people with severe mental illness: a descriptive study. Santé Ment Qué, 33. doi:10.7202/019677ar
- Piat, M., Lesage, A., Boyer, R., Dorvil, H., Couture, A., & Grenier, G. (2008). Housing for persons with serious mental illness: consumer and service provider preferences. Psychiatric Services, 59. doi:10.1176/ps.2008.59.9.1011
- Sapey, B. (1995). Disabling homes: a study of the housing needs of disabled people in Cornwall. Disability & Society, 10(1), 71-86.

Sim, J., Liddle, J., Bernard, M., Scharf, T., & Bartlam, B. (2012). Home From Home? A Mixed-Methods Study of Relocation Within a Purpose-Built Retirement Community. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 26(4), 372-394.

Sun, Y., Phillips, D. R., & Wong, M. (2018). A study of housing typology and perceived age-friendliness in an established Hong Kong new town: A personenvironment perspective. Geoforum, 88, 17-27. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2017.11.001

Thurber, A., & Fraser, J. (2016). Disrupting the order of things: public housing tenant organizing for material, political and epistemological justice. Cities, 57. doi:10.1016/j.cities.2015.10.006

Welch, N., & Fernandes, A. (2010). Mental health and housing: developing a care and support pathway. Housing, Care and Support, 13. doi:10.5042/hcs.2010.0756

Wiesel, I., & Fincher, R. (2009). The choice agenda in disability housing provision. Hous Stud, 24. doi:10.1080/02673030903086790

Outcome measures

- Aplin, T., Chien, C.-W., & Gustafsson, L. (2016). Initial validation of the dimensions of home measure. Australian Occupational Therapy Journal, 63(1), 47-56. doi:10.1111/1440-1630.12270
- Burns, S. P., & Pickens, N. D. (2016). Embedding technology into inter-professional best practices in home safety evaluation. Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology, 1-7. doi:10.1080/17483107.2016.1189000
- Burton, E. J., Mitchell, L., & Stride, C. B. (2011). Good places for ageing in place: development of objective built environment measures for investigating links with older people's wellbeing. BMC Public Health, 11. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-839
- Carp, F. M., & Carp, A. (1982). A role for technical environmental assessment in perceptions of environmental quality and well-being. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 2(3), 171-191.
- Chiatti, C., & Iwarsson, S. (2014). Evaluation of housing adaptation interventions: integrating the economic perspective into occupational therapy practice. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy(0), 1-13.
- Cooper, B., Ahrentzen, S., & Hasselkus, B. (1991). Post-occupancy evaluation: An enviornment-behaviour technique for assessing the built enviornment. Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 58(4).
- Fange, A., & Iwarsson, S. (2007). Challenges in the development of strategies for housing adaptation evaluations. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 14(3), 140-149. doi:10.1080/11038120600840150
- Fathi, R., Bacchetti, P., Haan, M. N., Houston, T. K., Patel, K., & Ritchie, C. S. (2017). Life-Space Assessment Predicts Hospital Readmission in Home-Limited Adults. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. doi:10.1111/jgs.14739
- Fisher, G., Forsyth, K., Harrison, M., Angarola, R., E Kayhan, Noga, P., . . . Irvine, L. (2015). Residential Environmenal Impact Scale. UK: University of Illnois.
- Hadjri, K., & Crozier, C. (2009). Post-occupancy evaluation: purpose, benefits and barriers. Facilities, 27(1/2), 21-33. doi:10.1108/02632770910923063
- Heaton, J., & Bamford, C. (2001). Assessing the outcomes of equipment and adaptations: Issues and Approaches. British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 64(7).
- Horowitz, B. P., Nochajski, S. M., & Schweitzer, J. A. (2013). Occupational therapy community practice and home assessments: Use of the Home Safety Self-Assessment Tool (HSSAT) to support aging in place. Occupational therapy in health care, 27(3), 216-227.
- Hutchings, B. L., Olsen, R. V., & Moulton, H. J. (2008). Environmental evaluations and modifications to support aging at home with a developmental disability. Journal of Housing For the Elderly, 22(4), 286-310.

Iwarsson, S. (1999). The Housing Enabler: An objective tool for assessing accessibility. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 62(11), 491-497.

Jones, P. C., Pendergast, L. L., Schaefer, B. A., Rasheed, M., Svensen, E., Scharf, R., . . . Murray-Kolb, L. E. (2017). Measuring home environments across cultures: Invariance of the HOME scale across eight international sites from the MAL-ED study. Journal of School Psychology, 64, 109-127. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2017.06.001

Kauhanen, T.-R. (2015). Designing a Method for Measuring the Difficulty in Kitchen Tasks with People Suffering from Dementia.

Keglovits, M., Somerville, E., & Stark, S. (2015). In-Home Occupational Performance Evaluation for Providing Assistance (I–HOPE Assist): An Assessment for Informal Caregivers. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 69(5), 6905290010p6905290011-6905290010p6905290019. doi:10.5014/ajot.2015.015248

Lien, L. L., Steggell, C. D., Slaug, B., & Iwarsson, S. (2015). Assessment and analysis of housing accessibility: adapting the environmental component of the housing enabler to United States applications. Journal of Housing and the Built Environment, 1-16.

Lindstrom, D., & Sithong, C. (2017). Psychometrics for the Home for Life Home Assessment. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 71(4_Supplement_1), 7111500056p7111500051-7111500056p7111500051. doi:10.5014/ajot.2017.71S1-PO6128

Mackenzie, L. (2016). Evaluation of the clinical utility of the Home Falls and Accidents Screening Tool (HOME FAST). Disability and Rehabilitation, 1-13. doi:10.1080/09638288.2016.1204015

Petersson, I. (2009). Everyday life and home modification for older adults - Impacts, concepts and instrument development. (PhD), Karolinska Instititet, Stockholm.

Robnett, R. H., Bliss, S., Buck, K., Dempsey, J., Gilpatric, H., & Michaud, K. (2015). Validation of the Safe at Home Screening with Adults Who Have Acquired Brain Injury. Occupational therapy in health care. doi:10.3109/07380577.2015.1044691

Rousseau, J., Potvin, L., Dutil, E., & Falta, P. (2001). A critical review of assessment tools related to home adaptation issues. Occupational therapy in health care, 14(3).

Rousseau, J., Potvin, L., Dutil, É., & Falta, P. (2013). Home Assessment of Person-Environment Interaction (HoPE): Content Validation Process. Occupational therapy in health care, 27(4), 289-307.

Sanford, J. A., Pynoos, J., Tejral, A., & Browne, A. (2001). Development of a comprehensive assessment for delivery of home modifications. Physical & Occupational Therapy In Geriatrics, 20(2), 43-55.

Stark, S., Somerville, E., & Morris, J. (2010). Keglovits, M., Somerville, E. and Stark, S., 2015. In-Home Occupational Performance Evaluation for Providing Assistance (I–HOPE Assist): An Assessment for Informal Caregivers. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 69(5), pp.6905290010p1-6905290010p9. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 64(10).

Struckmeyer, L.R., 2016. Reliability and validity of the home environmental assessment protocol-revised. (Doctoral dissertation). Texas Woman's University, USA.

Svarre, T., Lunn, T. B. K., & Helle, T. (2016). Transforming paper-based assessment forms to a digital format: Exemplified by the Housing Enabler prototype app. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 1-10. doi:10.1080/11038128.2016.1255774

Swenor, B. K., Yonge, A. V., Goldhammer, V., Miller, R., Gitlin, L. N., & Ramulu, P. (2016). Evaluation of the Home Environment Assessment for the Visually Impaired (HEAVI): an instrument designed to quantify fall-related hazards in the visually impaired. BMC geriatrics, 16(1), 214.

Terhorst, L., Holm, M. B., Toto, P. E., & Rogers, J. C. (2016). Performance-Based Impairment Measures as Predictors of Early-Stage Activity Limitations in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. Journal of Aging and Health. doi:10.1177/0898264316648113

Weeks, A. L., Lamb, B. A., & Pickens, N. D. (2010). Home Modification Assessments: Clinical Utility and Treatment Context. Physical & Occupational Therapy In Geriatrics, 28(4), 396-409. doi:10.3109/02703180903528405

Occupational therapy-specific evidence/guidance

Adams, J. (1996). Adapting for community care, Part 1. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 59(3), 115-118.

Ainsworth, E., & Dejonge, D. (2010). Occupational Therapist's Guide to Home Modification Practice. NJ: Slack Incorporated.

AOTA. (2010). Occupational Therapy's Perspective on the Use of Environments and Contexts to Support Health and Participation in Occupations. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 64(6).

AOTA. (2010). Specialized Knowledge and Skills in Technology and Environmental Interventions for Occupational Therapy Practice. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 64(6).

Atwa, A., Money, A. G., Spiliotopoulou, G., & Mcintyre, A. (2013). Occupational therapists' perceptions about the clinical utility of the 3D interior design software. Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology, 8(4), 348-355.

Atwal, A., Money, A., & Harvey, M. (2014). Occupational therapists' views on using a virtual reality interior design application within the pre-discharge home visit process. Journal of medical Internet research, 16(12).

Atwal, A., Spiliotopoulou, G., Stradden, J., Fellows, V., Anako, E., Robinson, L., & McIntyre, A. (2013). Factors influencing occupational therapy home visit practice: A qualitative study. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy (0), 1-8.

Boniface, G., & Morgan, D. (2017). The central role of the occupational therapist in facilitating housing adaptations/home modifications for disabled children. British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 0308022616680216.

Bridges, C. (2010). Home Modification: occupation as the basis for effective practice In M. Curtin, M. Molineux, & J. Supyk-Mellson (Eds.), Occupational Therapy and physical dysfunction: Enabling Occupation (8 ed.). London: Churchill Livingston.

Clutton, S., Grisbooke, J., & Pengelly, S. (2006). Occupational therapy in housing: building on firm foundations: Wiley.

Cowell, F., Bridge, C. and Mathews, S., 2013. Home modification information needs of occupational therapists practicing in New South Wales. Sydney: Home Modification Information Clearinghouse, University of Sydney.[online].

Craig, D. G. (2012). Current occupational therapy publications in home health: a scoping review. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 66(3), 338-347. doi:10.5014/ajot.2012.003566

Cummings, R., Thomas, M., Szonyi, G., Salkeld, G., O'Neill, E., Westbury, C., & Frampton, G. (1999). Home visits by an occupational therapist for assessment and modification of environment hazards: A randomized trial of falls prevention. The American Geriatrics Society, 47(12).

Dibsdall, L., & Rugg, S. (2008). Carers' Perspectives on their Needs and Local Authority Occupational Therapy Practice. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 71(7), 277-285.

DuBroc, W., & Pickens, N. D. (2015). Becoming "At Home" in Home Modifications: Professional Reasoning Across the Expertise Continuum. Occupational therapy in health care, 29(3), 316-329. doi:10.3109/07380577.2015.1010129

Jenny Fishpool and Catherine Bridge (2012) Follow-up efficacy post environmental modifications; a guide for clinical practice 1st ed. Sydney: Home Modification Information Clearinghouse, University of New South Wales.

Forsyth, K., & Hamilton, E. (2008). Social services occupational therapists' view of practice and integration with health: A survey. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 71(2), 64-71.

French, G. (2001). Challenging the role of occupational therapists in clinical practice: An environmental perspective. Australian Occupational Therapy Journal, 48(4), 176-180.

Grisbrooke, J., & Scott, S. (2009). Moving into housing: experiences of developing specialist occupational therapy posts in local authority housing departments. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 72(1), 29-36.

Harrison, M., Angarola, R., Forsyth, K., & Irvine, L. (2016). Defining the environment to support occupational therapy intervention in mental health practice. British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 79(1), 57-59. doi:10.1177/0308022614562787

Hawkins, R., & Stewart, S. (2002). Changing rooms: the impact of adaptations on the meaning of home for a disabled person and the role of occupational therapists in the process. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 65(2), 81-87.

Horowitz, B. P. (2002). Occupational therapy home assessments: supporting community living through client-centered practice. Occupational Therapy in Mental Health, 18(1), 1-17.

Johansson, K. (2008). Older people' home modification process. (PhD), Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm.

Johansson, K., Cutchin, M. P., & Lilja, M. (2013). Place Integration: A Conceptual Tool to Understand the Home Modification Process Transactional Perspectives on Occupation (pp. 107-117): Springer.

Johansson, K., Lilja, M., Park, M., & Josephsson, S. (2010). Balancing the good–a critical discourse analysis of home modification services. Sociology of health & illness, 32(4), 563-582.

Klein, S.I., Rosage, L. and Shaw, G., 2000. The role of occupational therapists in home modification programs at an area agency on aging. Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics, 16(3-4), pp.19-37.

Law, M. (1991). The environment: a focus for occupational therapy. Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 58(4).

Malmgren Fange, A., Lindberg, K., & Iwarsson, S. (2012). Housing adaptations from the perspectives of Swedish occupational therapists. Scandanavian Journal of Occupational Therapy. doi:10.3109/11038128.2012.737368

Marshall, A., Myers, C., & Pierce, D. (2016). A Century of Therapeutic Use of the Physical Environment. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 71(1), 7101100030p7101100031-7101100030p7101100010. doi:10.5014/ajot.2017.023960

Millikan, L. (2012). Environmental Assessment & Modification for Australian Occupational Therapists. Sydney: Home Modification Information Clearinghouse, University of New South Wales.

Nielsen, T. L., Petersen, K. S., Nielsen, C. V., Strøm, J., Ehlers, M. M., & Bjerrum, M. (2016). What are the short-term and long-term effects of occupation-focused and occupation-based occupational therapy in the home on older adults' occupational performance? A systematic review. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 1-14. doi:10.1080/11038128.2016.1245357

Nocon, A., & Pleace, N. (1997). 'Until Disabled People Get Consulted...': The Role of Occupational Therapy in Meeting Housing Needs. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 60(3), 115-122.

Papageorgiou, N., Marquis, R., Dare, J., & Batten, R. (2016). Occupational Therapy and Occupational Participation in Community Dwelling Older Adults: A Review of the Evidence. Physical & Occupational Therapy In Geriatrics, 34(1), 21-42. doi:10.3109/02703181.2015.1109014

Pynoos, J., & Sanford, J. (2002). New tools for better home modifications. The Case Manager, 13(1), 67-70. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1067/tcmg.2002.122041

Riley J, Boniface G. (2012). The effectiveness of occupational therapy local authority social services' interventions for older people in Great Britain: a critical literature review. Cardiff: Cardiff University.

Sanford, J. A. (2012). Universal Design as a Rehabilitation Strategy: Design for the Ages. NYC: Springer Publishing Company.

Siebert, C., Smallfield, S., & Stark, S. (2014). Occupational therapy practice guidelines for home modifications. Bethesda, MD: AOTA Press.

Sheffield, C., Smith, C. A., & Becker, M. (2012). Evaluation of an Agency-Based Occupational Therapy Intervention to Facilitate Aging in Place. Gerontologist.

Stark, S. (2003). Home modifications that enable occupational performance. In L. letts, P. Rigby, & D. stewart (Eds.), Using Environments to Enable Occupational Performance. New Jersey: Slack inc.

Stark, S. L., & Sanford, J. A. (2005). Environmental enablers and their impact on occupational performance Occupational Therapy: Performance, participation, and well-being, 3rd ed (pp. 299-336). Thorofare, New Jersey: Slack Incorporated.

Other

Aguinaldo, J. P., Ahluwalia, A., Hambly, K., Koornstra, J., Rankin, B., & Roesslein, K. (2016). Needs and Supports in Transitional Housing for People Living with HIV/AIDS in Ontario, Canada. Journal of Social Service Research, 1-11. doi:10.1080/01488376.2015.1101046

Hashemi, M., & Karimi, H. A. (2015). Indoor spatial model and accessibility index for emergency evacuation of people with disabilities. Journal of Computing in Civil Engineering, 30(4), 04015056.

Heywood, F., & Awang, D. (2011). Developing a housing adaptation genome project. The British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 74(4), 200-203. doi:10.4276/030802211x13021048723372

Ritchey, K. C., Meyer, D., & Ice, G. H. (2015). Non-therapist identification of falling hazards in older adult homes using digital photography. Preventive Medicine Reports, 2(Supplement C), 794-797. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.09.004

Saugeres, L. (2011). (Un)accommodating disabilities: housing, marginalization and dependency in Australia. Journal of Housing and the Built Environment, 26. doi:10.1007/s10901-010-9201-x